THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
In the Court of Common Pleas
J. Michael Baxley, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUL - 8 2013

Case No. 2007-CP-07-1396
Supreme Court Appellate Case No. 2013-000238

S.C. Supreme Court

Anthony and Barbara Grazia, individually and
on behalf of all other similarly situated Plaintiffs,..... Respondents,

v.

South Carolina State Plastering, LLC,..... Defendant,

and

South Carolina State Plastering, LLC,..... Defendant,

v.

Del Webb Communities, Inc. Pulte Homes, Inc.
and Kephart Architects, Inc., Third-Party Defendants,

Of whom Del Webb Communities, Inc., and
Pulte Homes, Inc. are Petitioners.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Whether the trial court erred in failing to deny class certification.
2. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in dismissing this appeal.
3. Whether this Court should exercise its discretion to review any unappealable parts of the appealed orders in conjunction with any appealable parts of the orders.
4. Whether this Court should exercise its discretion to issue a writ of certiorari to the Court of Common Pleas and review the merits of the trial court's orders or, in the alternative, remand for reconsideration of the class certification issue under specific guidelines.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal after remand in a class action for various alleged construction defects in the application of stucco siding to approximately 4,000 homes. In *Grazia v. South Carolina State Plastering, LLC*, 703 S.E.2d 197 (S.C. 2010), the trial court struck the class allegations from the complaint in this case, because it found that class actions are incompatible with the requirements of the Right to Cure Act as a matter of law. *Id.* at 199.¹ This Court disagreed and reversed. In so ruling, this Court specified a mode of trial whereby the trial court would first decide whether the alleged class met the certification requirements of Rule 23, SCRCP, and, if so, the trial court would then decide whether representative notice under the Right to Cure Act was feasible:

Upon a motion for class certification, it will be *incumbent upon the circuit court* to determine *whether or not* the action meets each of the five prerequisites proponents of class certification are required to prove. *If and when the prerequisites are met*, the court *may then* find that representative notice under the Right to Cure Act is appropriate.

¹ The "Right to Cure Act" is the South Carolina Notice and Opportunity to Cure Construction Dwelling Defects Act, and it is set forth at S.C. Code Ann. §§ 40-59-810 to -860 (Supp. 2012). For a brief summary of the Right To Cure Act, and its stated purpose of encouraging pre-trial settlement through a statutorily required pre-action alternative dispute resolution procedure, see the Addendum at the end of this Petition.

703 S.E.2d at 204 (emphasis added) (citation omitted). On remand, after two years of class discovery, the Plaintiffs moved to certify the class alleged in their complaint:

All present owners of houses located in Sun City of Bluffton, South Carolina, which properties have had stucco exteriors applied *or partly applied* by [SCSP] in Beaufort County, South Carolina, *who will incur damages in excess of \$100 for loss of use of the premises and the cost of repair of these houses, depreciation, and for sums paid in the past for repairs* to stucco exterior of the houses. This class is *limited to matters dealing with* the stucco exteriors of the houses.

(JA 85, ¶1) (emphasis added). After hearing the motion, and rather than rule on the motion as directed by this Court in *Grazia*, the trial court *sua sponte* created a new class definition:

All individuals, corporations, unincorporated associations, or other entities that currently own stucco-clad homes in Sun City Hilton Head *to which SCSP applied the exterior stucco in whole or part* prior to July 31, 2007, *which allegedly are damaged due to* (a) the lack of head flashing above doors and windows, (b) the failure to install stucco control joints, *and/or* (c) the presence of moisture encapsulation by the failure to leave a gap between the stucco exterior and the structure slab.

(JA 20) (emphasis added). The Plaintiffs' complaint alleged an unfair trade practice claim but such claims cannot be brought as a class action. Rather than properly deny class certification for this reason, the trial court *sua sponte* dismissed the unfair trade practice claim to preserve the class. (JA 16-17). Next, the trial court immediately and again *sua sponte* certified its newly defined class on a preliminary basis and ordered that notice be given with an opt out deadline. (JA 20).²

There had been no discovery on the trial court's new class definition. It is unknown whether the named plaintiffs satisfied the court's new class definition, *i.e.*, it is unknown whether the named plaintiffs could be the class representative for this new class. Recognizing all of this,

² The court ordered that the class notice have the following minimum requirements: (1) the notice would have a deadline for opting out of the class; (2) the notice would advise the class members that class certification was preliminary pending the results of the Right to Cure Act process being ordered by the court; (3) after the end of the opt out period, a Right to Cure Act "document must be individually completed for each claimant"; and (4) based on the Right to Cure Act responses, the trial court would make a final determination on class certification and notify the preliminary class members of the final decision and legal ramifications thereof. (JA 20).

the court *sua sponte* ordered the following Right to Cure process as a court-ordered discovery device for determining whether the trial court's new class even existed:

1. after the expiration of opt-out period, a "Right to Cure" notice of claim must be filed for each member of the class;
2. the notice of claim "must be filed in a representative capacity by proposed class counsel, and must be signed by counsel"; and
3. the notice must include the information required by the Act and "*specificity of the exact nature of the stucco defect and defect results with regard to each individual property shall be required. A uniform notice listing all possible defects and all possible damages within the class will not suffice.*"

(JA 20, 22-23) (emphasis added). The trial court would "employ the Right to Cure process outlined [above] to further analyze and perhaps organize the various claims that exist in these cases" (JA 18) and to "make a final decision as to whether a class action vehicle is practicable under the specific facts and circumstances disclosed by the notices and responses required under the [Right to Cure] Act." (JA 10).

In short, the trial court reversed the mode of trial ordered by this Court in *Grazia*. The trial court disobeyed this Court's directive to first decide the question of certifying the class alleged by the Plaintiffs and, if this class was certified, to then determine whether "representative notice" under the Right to Cure Act was appropriate. Rather, the trial court *sua sponte* changed the class definition, *sua sponte* changed the class complaint to eliminate the unfair trade practice claim, *sua sponte* and immediately certified the class, and *sua sponte* created a "Right to Cure" process as a court-ordered discovery device to determine whether any class actually existed.

Del Webb and Pulte (Del Webb) appealed the trial court's order, as well as the trial court's order denying their motion for reconsideration and clarification. On appeal, Del Webb filed a motion to determine appealability, and the Plaintiffs thereafter filed a motion to dismiss the appeal. The Court of Appeals summarily dismissed the appeal "because these orders are not

immediately appealable” without addressing the issues raised in opposition to the motion to dismiss – the court also denied the motion to determine appealability as moot. (JA 5-6). Del Webb petitioned for rehearing, and the Court of Appeals denied the petition. (JA 1-2; 197-199).

Pursuant to Rule 242, SCACR, Del Webb respectfully submits that this Court should issue a writ of certiorari to the Court of Appeals, reverse the Court of Appeals, and either retain the appeal or remand it to the Court of Appeals for a decision on the merits. In the alternative, and assuming the appealed orders are not immediately appealable, Del Webb respectfully submits this Court should issue a writ of certiorari to the Court of Common Pleas and review the merits of the trial court’s orders. As a third alternative, and assuming the merits of the trial court’s orders are not to be addressed by this Court or the Court of Appeals, Del Webb respectfully submits that this Court’s order should correct the trial court’s fundamentally flawed reading of this Court’s opinion in *Grazia* as a directive to certify some class in this case.

ARGUMENT

The Plaintiffs moved to certify the class alleged in their complaint. Rather than rule on this question as ordered by this Court in *Grazia*, the trial court *sua sponte* stepped outside its proper role as a neutral decision maker and became a *de facto* advocate for certification of some class in this case. The trial court was not motivated by bias or some other improper motive. Rather, the trial court mistakenly read this Court’s opinion in *Grazia* as a directive that some class be certified in this case: “[T]he Supreme Court had the *clear opportunity* to deny class status *in this very case* but affirmatively *chose not to do so*, instead emphasizing in its decision the vitality of the class action doctrine to preserve the resources of the Court and the parties.” (JA 19) (emphasis added). This is a clearly erroneous reading of *Grazia*. This Court specifically

noted that no motion for class certification had been made and the issue of class certification was not before this Court. *Grazia*, 703 S.E.2d at 203 n.5 and 204 n.6.

I. The trial court erred in failing to deny class certification.

The linchpin prerequisite for any class action is the existence of a representative claim whereby the court can try the representative claim and apply the result across the class without individual consideration of each class member's claim. *Gardner v. South Carolina Dep't of Rev.*, 577 S.E.2d 190, 201 (S.C. 2003). Here, a representative claim means a representative house with defects and damages that are representative of the houses owned by all of the class members, such that the trial court can try the issues for that house and apply the results to the other houses in the class without individual consideration of each house in the class. As demonstrated below, the Plaintiffs failed to prove the requirements for certifying the class. Importantly, *all* of the Plaintiffs' *own experts* agreed that each house in the class would have to be inspected and tested to determine the existence of any defect and any resulting damage, which is the antithesis of a class action. *Gardner*, 577 S.E.2d at 201 (reversing class certification because case required individualized examination of each class member's claim).

A. The Plaintiffs failed to prove the prerequisites for class certification.

The 4,000 houses at issue here were built over a 10-year period. These houses comprise myriad combinations of different types of stucco systems produced by different stucco manufacturers that were applied under different installation instructions, different building codes, and different industry standards. Against this backdrop of inherent differences between the houses, the testimony of the Plaintiffs' *own experts* conclusively establishes that there is no representative house in the class. They agree that determining the existence, nature, extent, and cause of any stucco defect, as well as the existence, extent, and cause of any damage to the stucco or any

consequential damage to the house requires a house-by-house inspection and destructive testing, all of which is the antithesis of a class action.³ They also agree that determining the existence of a defect depends on the type of stucco system used to build each house and the manufacturer's instructions for that system, as well as the building code and industry standards that existed at the time of construction for each house, *i.e.*, the instructions, codes, and standards establish the applicable duties in applying the stucco, and then there must be house-by-house inspection and destructive testing to determine if there was any breach of duty.

Robert Gallagher is a general contractor and one of the Plaintiffs' experts. He testified that: (a) inspection and destructive testing of each house is required to determine the cause of any crack in the stucco and any consequential damages caused by the cracked stucco, as well as the scope of any repairs needed to correct any defect and repair any consequential damage (JA 96-97, 101-103, 109-110, 115-117, 119); and (b) in conducting the inspection and testing of each house, he would need to know the type of stucco system used in building the house, the manufacturer's installation specifications for the particular type of stucco system used in building the house, the installation method actually used in building the house, the building code requirements that existed at the time the house was built, and the industry standards that existed at the time the house was built. (JA 114-115). Robert Sisroy is an engineering expert. He agreed that determining the existence, cause, and any resulting damage from a stucco defect required an inspection of each house, destructive testing to each house, and consideration of the building code and industry standard requirements that existed at the time each house was built.

³ The trial court implicitly recognized that the Plaintiffs had failed to prove the requirements for certification of their alleged class when it acknowledged all of the differences between the claims of individual class members and the individual defenses thereto: "This Court is cognizant of [petitioners'] arguments, and recognizes that factual and legal differences may exist within the putative class." (JA 17-18). Rather than deny class certification for the Plaintiffs' failure of proof, the trial court *sua sponte* created a new class and then *sua sponte* created a Right to Cure process to discover whether the new class even existed. (JA 18). But, as shown later, the Right to Cure process created by the trial court is itself the antithesis of a class action. (See Arg. 1(B), *infra*).

(JA 136, 138, 141-143, 147). Peter Sherratt is an architectural expert. He agreed that determining the existence, cause, and any resulting damage from a stucco defect required an inspection of and destructive testing to each house. (JA 124-125). Thomas Carlson is another general contractor expert. He also agreed that determining the existence, cause, and any resulting damage from a stucco defect required an inspection of and destructive testing to each house. (JA 128-131).

In short, *all* of the Plaintiffs' *own experts* agreed that each house in the class must be inspected and tested. This is the antithesis of a class action. Accordingly, the trial court should have denied class certification under the undisputed testimony of *all* of the Plaintiffs' *own experts*.⁴ The Plaintiffs obviously failed to prove their alleged class, because the trial court did not certify that class. The Plaintiffs obviously failed to prove the trial court's new class should be certified, because the trial court did not certify the class. Rather, the trial court *sua sponte* created a "Right to Cure" process to discover whether the new class even existed. This process, however, cannot and will not change the undisputed testimony of the Plaintiffs' *own experts* that destructive testing is required for each house to identify any defect or resulting damage.

B. The Right to Cure process ordered by the trial court is the antithesis of a class action.

Rather than deny class certification due to the Plaintiffs' failure of proof, the trial court created a new class and then ordered a "Right to Cure" process to discover whether that class even existed. In short, after *sua sponte* redefining the class, the trial court *sua sponte* invoked the Right to Cure Act for a purpose for which it was never intended by the General Assembly –

⁴ In the opening paragraph of its order, the trial court stated that "Plaintiffs' proposed Class preliminarily meets the requirements for certification." (JA 10). The remainder of the order, however, demonstrates that this statement is simply false. Were it true, the trial court would have but did not certify the class alleged by the Plaintiffs. Rather, the trial court *sua sponte* created a new class and then *sua sponte* converted the Right to Cure Act into a discovery device to determine whether the new class even existed.

attempting to provide the evidence on whether there could be or should be a class action.⁵ The four major steps in that process are summarized below, and each step suffers from immediate and insurmountable problems that preclude certification of the class alleged by the Plaintiffs and the class created *sua sponte* by the trial court.⁶

First, over a period of 180 days (six months), the notice of claimed defect and damage required by the Right to Cure Act had to be filed for each house in the class. (JA 22). This notice would be “representative” in the sense that class counsel would give the notice rather than the owner of each house, and the defendants’ counsel would receive the notice in a “representative” capacity. (*Id.*). Each notice for each house had to specify “the exact nature of the stucco defect and defect results with regard to each individual property.” (JA 23).

There is an immediate and insurmountable problem with the “representative” notice ordered by the trial court – class counsel does not and cannot know the defect and resulting damage for each house. Such knowledge requires the inspection and testing of each house in the class as established by the testimony of the Plaintiffs’ *own experts*. These experts, however, had not inspected and tested each house in the class, *i.e.*, the Plaintiffs had failed to prove the requirements for certification of the alleged class.

Second, to overcome the Plaintiffs’ failure of proof, the trial court ordered an “initial investigation” of each house during the 180 day notice period. (JA 22). The court divided this 180-day period into four 45-day periods, with one-fourth of the class houses (1,000) to be inspected during that time period and notice given for each of those houses at the end of the 45-

⁵ The trial court also envisioned that the Right to Cure Notices would reveal the necessity for creating subclasses, but it is axiomatic that each subclass requires a class representative. The Grazias are the only named plaintiffs in this case, and they cannot be the representative for more than one subclass. The Plaintiffs have not alleged any subclasses; there has been no discovery on any sub-classes; there has been no Rule 23 analysis of any sub-classes; and no sub-class representatives have been identified for any sub-classes.

⁶ For a more detailed explanation of the trial court’s Right to Cure process and the problems with that process, see the separately filed Certiorari Petition of South Carolina State Plastering. All grounds presented by State Plastering in its petition for granting certiorari are incorporated herein and adopted by Del Webb and Pulte.

day period. (JA 22-23). Recognizing the overwhelming amount of work required to comply with this process, the trial court ordered all parties to “acquire adequate staff to meet the timetables set forth herein.” (JA 22).

There are two immediate and insurmountable problems with this inspection process. Conducting an inspection of each house is the antithesis of a class action – it requires an individualized consideration of each class member’s house and the claims for each house and the individual defenses to those claims. This Court and the Supreme Court of the United States have held that such individualized consideration precludes class certification. *Gardner*, 577 S.E.2d at 201 (reversing class action because case required individualized examination of each class member’s claim); *Wal-Mart Stores v. Dukes*, 131 S Ct. 2541 (2011) (due process precludes class certification when there are individualized defenses to the class claims). Moreover, individualized consideration of claims or defenses destroys the “economy” achieved through the representative claim process that is the heart of any class action. As ordered by the trial court, each party must now acquire the staff and other personnel necessary to inspect 4,000 homes in 180 days, *i.e.*, approximately 22 homes *per day*. Again, this is the antithesis of a class action, and it completely destroys the resource-saving purpose of any class action.

Third, at the end of each 45-day inspection period, and after receiving the notices for each of the 1,000 homes inspected during that period, any request for additional information as authorized by the Right to Cure Act must be made within 60 days. (JA 22-23). Thus, after the first 45-day inspection period, it will be necessary to continue inspecting 22 houses per day while also preparing any requests for additional information, thereby exacerbating the already overwhelming workload imposed *sua sponte* by the trial court and thereby further destroying the resource-saving purpose of any class action.

Fourth, as required by the Right to Cure Act, settlement offers could be made on each house, and each “claimant [*i.e.*, each member of the class] shall be given thirty (30) days after the date of service” of the offer to respond to the offer. (JA 23). In other words, each class member could settle out of the class on an individual basis, but this process creates an inherent and irreconcilable conflict between class counsel and each class member.

Class counsel owes their duty to the class as a whole, not any particular member of the class. It is in the best interest of the class and class counsel for the class to be as large as possible. Class counsel, therefore, cannot advise any class member on whether or not to settle out of the class on an individual basis. Thus, each class member will have to consider a settlement offer without benefit of counsel or hire independent counsel to advise them. This is the antithesis of a class action, and having to hire independent counsel defeats the resource-saving purpose of any class action.⁷

In short, the Right to Cure process created *sua sponte* by the trial court requires an inspection of every house in the class to determine what claim, if any, can be made for that house. This is the antithesis of a class action. Moreover, the process created by the trial court imposes an overwhelming workload on the parties that requires the acquisition of additional personnel, which destroys the resource-saving purpose of any class action. Also, the process created by the trial court gives rise to an irreconcilable conflict between class counsel and each class member regarding individual settlement of each class member’s claim.

⁷ This “settlement conflict” exacerbates already-existing conflicts that the class representatives and class counsel have with the class members. The class representatives and class counsel have waived any claim that a class member may have for prior repairs made by the class member, and the trial court excluded this claim from its new class definition. (See JA 19-20). Also, the trial court struck any claim that a class member may have under the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act from the class action, and the class representatives and class counsel have acquiesced in this in order to further their personal interests in having the class certified. (See JA 16-17). Thus, the class representatives and class counsel have waived potential claims held by class members to serve their own personal interests in having the class certified. For further discussion on this conflict issue, see the separately filed petition of South Carolina State Plastering.

II. The Court of Appeals erred in finding the “class order” is not immediately appealable.

A. The “class order” is immediately appealable because it affects the mode of trial.

Orders affecting the mode of trial are immediately appealable and must be appealed immediately, or the right to appeal is lost. *Creed v. Stokes*, 331 S.E.2d 351 (1985) (order denying right to jury trial); *Pelfrey v. Bank of Greer*, 244 S.E.2d 315 (1978) (order denying right to non-jury trial). This rule is not limited to orders affecting the right to a jury trial or non-jury trial. It also applies to orders that substitute a defendant over the plaintiff’s objection,⁸ orders that grant a motion to disqualify counsel,⁹ and orders that create an opt-in class.¹⁰ Here, the trial court’s order affects the mode of trial in several different ways.

1. The “class order” affects the mode of trial ordered by this Court in *Grazia*.

In *Grazia*, this Court ordered the trial court to first determine whether the Plaintiff’s had proven the requirements for certification of their alleged class and, if the class was certified, to then determine whether representative notice for the class under the Right to Cure Act was appropriate. 703 S.E.2d at 204. This is the law of this case because, on remand, the rulings of the appellate court are binding on the parties and the trial court. *Robert E. Lee & Co. v. Commission of Public Works of City of Greeneville*, 158 S.E.2d 185, 188 (S.C. 1967); *Prince v. Beaufort Mem. Hosp.*, 709 S.E.2d 122, 125 (S.C. App. 2011). The trial court, however, did the exact opposite of what this Court ordered.

As envisioned by this Court in *Grazia*, the parties conducted two years of class discovery after the remand by this Court, and the Plaintiffs thereafter moved to certify the class alleged in their complaint. As shown earlier, the testimony of *all* of the Plaintiffs’ *own experts*

⁸ *Neeltec Enterprises, Inc. v. Long*, 725 S.E.2d 926 (S.C. 2012), *rev’g* 705 S.E.2d 57 (S.C. App. 2011).

⁹ *Hagood v. Sommerville*, 607 S.E.2d 707 (S.C. 2005).

¹⁰ *Salmonsens v. CGD, Inc.*, 661 S.E.2d 81, 87 (S.C. 2008).

demonstrated that class certification should be denied, because determining the existence, nature, extent, and cause of any stucco defect, as well as the existence, extent, and cause of any damage to the stucco or any consequential damage to the house, requires an inspection of each house and destructive testing to each house, all of which is the antithesis of a class action. Thus, under the procedure ordered by this Court in *Grazia*, the trial court should have denied class certification and never reached the question of representative notice under the Right to Cure Act.

Rather than rule upon the issues and evidence presented by the parties, as was ordered by this Court in *Grazia*,¹¹ the trial court *sua sponte* changed the class definition and created a “Right to Cure” discovery process designed to determine whether this *court-created* class even existed. In other words, the trial court *sua sponte* used the Right to Cure Act as a last-ditch attempt to prove what the Plaintiffs had failed to prove after two years of class discovery. This is not the purpose of the Right to Cure Act and, more importantly, it is the exact opposite of what this Court ordered in *Grazia*.

2. The “class order” creates an impermissible opt in class.

In *Salmonsens v. CGD, Inc.*, 661 S.E.2d 81, 87 (S.C. 2008), this Court held that an “opt-in” class does not exist under South Carolina law and that an order creating an opt-in class is immediately appealable because it affects the mode of trial. *Id.* at 87-91. Here, the trial court has created an opt-in class because: (1) a Right to Cure Act notice must be filed for each house in the class as a prerequisite for remaining in the class after the opt-out period; and (2) each member of the class must permit an inspection of his or her home in order to remain in the class after the opt-out period. Moreover, the trial court’s creation of a “preliminary class certification” procedure has no basis in Rule 23, SCRPC, or South Carolina law. Thus, this case “presents a novel question of law

¹¹ This Court ordered the trial court: “Upon a motion for class certification, it will be *incumbent upon the circuit court* to determine *whether or not* the action meets each of the five prerequisites proponents of class certification are required to prove.” 703 S.E.2d at 204 (all emphasis added).

which should be addressed at this time in the interest of judicial economy and guidance to the bench and bar.” *Salmonsens*, 661 S.E.2d at 87.

3. The “class order” is immediately appealable, because it denies every litigant’s substantial right to a mode of trial wherein the trial court is a neutral decision maker rather than an advocate for the position of one party, and it strikes out part of the complaint and answer.

Manifestly, every litigant has a substantial right to a mode of trial wherein the trial court is a neutral decision maker and decides the issues *presented by the parties* based on the arguments and evidence *presented by the parties*. Here, due to its mistaken reading of this Court’s opinion in *Grazia* (and not any bias or improper motive), the trial court was compelled to step outside the role of neutral decision maker and become a *de facto* advocate for class certification. Thus, the “class order” affects the mode of trial. Moreover, in *sua sponte* changing the definition of the class to save it from the Plaintiffs’ failure of proof, the trial court effectively struck the class definition from the complaint and the defenses thereto. Thus, the Class Order is immediately appealable under § 14-3-330(2)(c) as an order that affects a substantial right and “strikes out an answer or any part thereof or any pleading in any action.” (All emphasis added).

B. The “class order” is immediately appealable because it affects the merits.

An order that “affects the merits” is immediately appealable under S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(1). Here, rather than rule upon the issues presented to it, the trial court *sua sponte* changed the merits question by redefining the class. The trial court’s order also affects the merits by waiving class members’ claims for past repairs and any claims for unfair trade practice. (See n.7 and accompanying text, *supra*). In short, the trial court’s order profoundly affects the merits of this case and is therefore immediately appealable.

Indeed, the class definition is the starting point for any discovery and for the Rule 23 analysis of class certification. By changing the class definition and immediately certifying that class

without any discovery, without any Rule 23 analysis, and without any opportunity to make any arguments against the new class, the appealed order profoundly affects the merits.

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