THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

J. Michael Baxley, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2007-CP-07-1396  
Case Tracking No.: 2013-000233  
Case Tracking No.: 2013-000238

---

**RECEIVED**

AUG - 9 2013

**S.C. Supreme Court**

Anthony and Barbara Grazia, individually and  
on behalf of all other similarly situated Plaintiffs, ..... Respondents,

v.

South Carolina State Plastering, LLC, ..... Petitioner.

and

South Carolina State Plastering, LLC, ..... Petitioner,

v.

Del Webb Communities, Inc., Pulte Homes,  
Inc., and Kephart Architects, Inc. .... Third-Party Defendants,

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

## ARGUMENT

### Neither of the Interlocutory Orders Identified in Del Webb's Notice of Appeal is Immediately Appealable and There is Currently No Appeal Pending.

Both Orders issued by the Circuit Court are interlocutory, a fact that is observed by the Court in its May 1, 2012, Order, and by the Court of Appeals. (JA 40-41).

Rule 201(a), SCACR, addresses judgments, orders and decisions subject to appeal, and, in pertinent part, provides that “[a]ppel may be taken, as provided by law, from any final judgment, appealable order or decision.” “As a general rule, only final judgments are appealable.” Ex parte Wilson, 367 S.C. 7, 12, 625 S.E.2d 205, 208 (2005). “To promote judicial efficiency and orderly adjudication of disputes on appeal, this rule seeks to prevent multiple appeals of non-final matters.” Jean Hofer Toal et al., Appellate Practice in South Carolina 83 (2002).

As is the case here, “any judgment or decree, leaving some further act to be done by the court before the rights of the parties are determined, is interlocutory and not final.” Wilson, 367 S.C. at 12, 625 S.E.2d at 208; Mid-State Distribs, Inc. v. Century Imps., Inc., 310 S.C. 330, 335, 426 S.E.2d 777, 780 (1993) (“South Carolina case law has established what constitutes an interlocutory appeal. If there is some further act which must be done by the court prior to a determination of the rights of the parties, then the order is interlocutory.”); *see also* Toal, supra at 86 (“‘Final judgment’ is a term of art denoting the disposition of all issues in the action.”). Here, Del Webb has appealed six separate Orders (each of which will be more particularly identified and analyzed below), none of

which are final judgments; they are all interlocutory (and not immediately appealable).

“Absent some specialized statute, the immediate appealability of an interlocutory or intermediate order depends on whether the order falls within [S.C. Code Ann.] § 14-3-330.” Wilson, 367 S.C. at 13, 625 S.E.2d at 208. Neither Order falls within the statute.

In pertinent part, § 14-3-330 provides as follows:

The Supreme Court shall have appellate jurisdiction for correction of errors of law in law cases, and shall review upon appeal:

(1) Any intermediate judgment, order or decree in a law case involving the merits in actions commenced in the court of common pleas and general sessions, brought there by original process or removed there from any inferior court or jurisdiction, and final judgments in such actions; provided, that if no appeal be taken until final judgment is entered the court may upon appeal from such final judgment review any intermediate order or decree necessarily affecting the judgment not before appealed from;

(2) An order affecting a substantial right made in an action when such order (a) in effect determines the action and prevents a judgment from which an appeal might be taken or discontinues the action, (b) grants or refuses a new trial or (c) strikes out an answer or any part thereof or any pleading in any action; . . .

Accordingly, “[i]ntermediate orders involving the merits may be immediately appealed pursuant to § 14-3-330(1).” Wilson, 367 S.C. at 13, 625 S.E.2d at 208. “An order which involves the merits is one that ‘must finally determine some substantial matter forming the whole or a part of some cause of action or defense.’” Id. (citing Mid-State Distribs., 310 S.C. at 334, 426 S.E.2d at 780). Also, “[i]nterlocutory orders affecting a substantial right may be immediately appealed pursuant to § 14-3-330(2).” Id. “Orders affecting a substantial right ‘discontinue an action, prevent an appeal, grant or refuse a new trial, or

strike out an action or defense.” (citing Mid-State Distribs., 301 S.C. at 335, 426 S.E.2d at 780 n. 4).

As to subsection (2) of § 14-3-330, “[g]enerally, this subsection has only been used when the trial order affected the ‘mode of trial’ because if those orders are not immediately appealed, no appellate review is available to correct any error.” Toal, supra at 87. “[T]he ‘mode of trial’ exception to the general rule that only final orders are appealable is confined to orders which abridge a party’s constitutional right to trial by jury.” Fulmer v. Cain, 380 S.C. 466, 470, 670 S.E.2d 652, 654 (2008) (citing Salmonsens v. CGD, Inc., 377 S.C. 442, 461, 661 S.E.2d 81, 91 (2008) (Pleicones, J., dissenting)).

As is more particularly set forth below, neither of the Orders Del Webb tries to appeal and failed are final judgments. Neither involves the merits. Neither discontinues this action, prevents a later appeal, grants or refuses a new trial, or strikes out a defense pled by Del Webb. Neither abridges Del Webb’s constitutional right to a jury trial. Neither is immediately appealable. Against this backdrop, Del Webb’s appeal was dismissed. Accordingly, there is no Appeal pending in this case for these two Orders.

**Order Granting Class Certification, dated December 19, 2011 (JA 9-24)**

This is a procedural Order granting class certification and setting the structure of the case moving forward. Generally, Orders under Rule 23 are interlocutory and not immediately appealable. *See* Salmonsens, 377 S.C. 442, 661 S.E.2d 81 (refusing to entertain interlocutory appeal of class certification despite express argument against precedent to do so, and also despite Court simultaneously addressing the merits of another issue in the case on appeal); Eldridge, 308 S.C. at 127, 417 S.E.2d at 534 (1992); *see also* Ferguson, 349 S.C. at 565, 564 S.E.2d at 98; Schein, 274 S.C. at 331, 263 S.E.2d

at 384; Knowles, 274 S.C. at 59, 261 S.E.2d at 49.

Within that Order are several case management directives from this Court. The first is an Order staying proceedings pending compliance with the S.C. Right To Cure Statute (S.C. Code Ann. § 40-59-810, et. seq.) and setting certain conditions for the notice and timing of compliance with the Right To Cure Act by the Plaintiffs/Respondents. While Plaintiffs can imagine no basis for an Appeal by Del Webb, as it was on their Motion that the framework of compliance with the Statute was set, this Order is certainly not appealable because it is not a final Order, and is consistent with the Right To Cure Act and the Supreme Courts recent decision in Grazia v. South Carolina State Plastering, LLC, et al, 390 S.C. 562, 703 S.E.2d 197 (2010).

Also contained within the Class Certification Order, is an Order striking Plaintiffs' Unfair Trade Practices claims. Again, this is a matter of procedure mandated by the legislature (unfair trade claims cannot be brought in a representative capacity) and Plaintiffs have no complaint with the rules. It is no more than the grant of a Motion to Amend. Moreover, it is without prejudice and plainly not appealable. The Court of Appeals recognized this to be true.

**Order Denying Del Webb Communities, Inc.'s Motion for Reconsideration  
and/or Clarification, dated May 1, 2012 (JA 40-41)**